RECEIVED

Sep 22 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals

Appeal From Dorchester County

Hon. Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2019-001068

The State,

Petitioner,

v.

Tyler J. Evans,

Respondent.

Opinion No. 2022-UP-319 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 3, 2022)

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's dismissal of the State's appeal from magistrate court because it was untimely when both the trial court and Court of Appeals had to effectively rewrite section 18-3-30 of the South Carolina Code, which by its very clear and unambiguous language was never intended to apply to an appeal by the State, and other statutes or rules should have applied to allow the State thirty days to serve and file the appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In December 2016, Respondent was ticketed for DUI. (UTT 5102P0676001; App.11). At a pretrial hearing on June 27, 2017, before the Honorable Tera S. Richardson, Respondent moved to dismiss the case on the basis that the State failed to comply with the video recording statute, section 56-5-2953 of the South Carolina Code. (5/28T.6-10; Magistrate's Return of Appeal; App.9). On June 28, 2017, Magistrate Richardson dismissed the case. (Magistrate's Return of Appeal; Respondent's 12/19/17 Motion to Dismiss Appeal; App.66).

On July 18, 2017, the State served Respondent's counsel with a Notice of Appeal to the Circuit Court. The Notice of Appeal was filed on July 21, 2017, which was the day both Respondent's counsel and Magistrate Richardson received the appeal. (State's Notice of Appeal and Appeal; Respondent's 12/19/17 Motion to Dismiss Appeal; App.66). The State's Notice of Appeal was served twenty days from the magistrate's order and filed 23 days after the order. Judge Richardson filed her Return on October 11, 2017. (Magistrate's Return of Appeal; App.9). Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss Appeal on December 21, 2017. (Respondent's 12/19/17 Motion to Dismiss Appeal; App.66).

On May 28, 2019, a hearing on the State's appeal and Respondent's Motion to Dismiss took place before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons. (5/28T.1; App.42). At the hearing, the State maintained the dismissal by the magistrate was improper. Respondent asserted the appeal should be dismissed based on the failure to file the Notice of Appeal within 10 days pursuant to section 18-3-30 of the South Carolina Code. The State countered that the statute did not apply and the Notice of Appeal needed to be served and filed within 30 days pursuant to Rule 74, SCRPC. The Court issued a Form 4 Order in which he found: "Appeal is hereby Denied. Not timely filed." He further found: "Respondent's Motion to Dismiss is hereby Granted, the Appeal was not

timely filed.” (Form 4 Dismissal Order; App.36). The State served and filed a Motion for Reconsideration maintaining the appeal was timely, or in the alternative, seeking a formal written order setting forth the grounds for the Court’s dismissal of the appeal. (State’s Motion to Reconsider; App.71). Judge Gibbons denied the motion on June 18, 2019, by Form 4 Order. (Form 4 Denial of Motion to Reconsider; App.39).

The State served and filed its Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals on June 28, 2019. After briefing, the Court issued an unpublished opinion affirming the circuit court’s finding the appeal was untimely because the State was required to serve and file the appeal within 10 days under section 18-3-30. The State served and filed a timely Petition for Rehearing, which was denied by Order on August 23, 2022. This Petition follows.¹

¹ This case was heard by the circuit court at the same time as State v. Christopher Huggins, which is also currently pending before this Court and addresses the same issue. The Court of Appeals did not consolidate the cases for consideration and issued separate, though identical opinions, in each case. The Petition for Writ of Certiorari in Huggins will be filed concurrent with this Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

ARGUMENT

- I. **Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court’s dismissal of the State’s appeal from magistrate court because it was untimely when both the trial court and Court of Appeals had to effectively rewrite section 18-3-30 of the South Carolina Code, which by its very clear and unambiguous language was never intended to apply to an appeal by the State, and other statutes or rules should have applied to allow the State thirty days to serve and file the appeal.**

The Court of Appeals erred in becoming a superlegislature and rewriting section 18-3-30 of the South Carolina Code to apply to the State against its very clear and unambiguous language. Both the circuit court and Court of Appeals erred in applying section 18-3-30 to the State and finding the State had to serve and file its notice of appeal within ten days when the express terms the statute only applies to a defendant serving a notice of appeal after conviction and sentence. Instead of rewriting the statute, the court should have applied either section 18-7-20 of the South Carolina Code or Rule 74 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and found the State had thirty days to serve and file its notice of appeal. Additionally, the clear legislative intent—not that construction should be necessary given the clear and unambiguous language of the statute—would support the conclusion that the State should have thirty days and not ten days. Finally, to the extent the circuit court found an issue related to equal protection and the Court of Appeals referenced the State and the defendant being “similarly situated” this is clearly not the case and overlooks obvious distinctions between the State and a singular defendant.

Initially, the Court of Appeals properly noted that the State’s right to appeal does not arise from statute, but has been defined by judicial decisions. The State’s right to appeal has been found in instances where a judge’s pre-trial ruling significantly impacts the State’s ability to prosecute the appeal or when it finally decides the action. See e.g., State v. McKnight, 287 S.C.

167, 337 S.E.2d 208 (1985); S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330 (Supp. 2019). The Court of Appeals specifically addressed the right of the State to appeal from a magistrate’s decision in State v. Belviso, 360 S.C. 112, 600 S.E.2d 68 (Ct. App. 2004), and correctly found that the right to appeal was not tied to the statutory scheme found in Chapter 3 of Title 18.

Chapter 3 of Title 18 is entitled “Appeals from Magistrates in Criminal Cases”. See S.C. Code Ann. § 18-3-10 thru -70 (Supp. 2019). Section 18-3-10 states: “Every person convicted before a magistrate of any offense whatever and sentenced may appeal from the sentence to the Court of Common Pleas for the county.” S.C. Code Ann. § 18-3-10 (Supp. 2019). The initial section of this Chapter indicates that the provisions of the Chapter apply to a person convicted in magistrate court. As already mentioned, the State’s right to appeal is not tied to this section or anything in this Chapter. Because the following statutes must be read in light of the initial section, the procedures and rules the statutes provide related to an appeal must apply only to a criminal defendant who has been convicted and sentenced. See State v. Prince, 335 S.C. 466, 472, 517 S.E.2d 229, 232 (Ct. App. 1999) (“Statutes must be read as a whole and sections that are part of the same general statutory scheme must be construed together and each given effect, if reasonable.”). They cannot, by the very language of the initial section, apply to the State.

Section 18-3-20 then states: “All appeals from magistrates’ courts in criminal causes shall be taken and prosecuted as prescribed in this chapter.” S.C. Code Ann. § 18-3-20 (Supp. 2019). As noted, this statute is specifically limited by section 18-3-10 so that it may apply only to “a person convicted.” It is followed then by section 18-3-30, which is the primary section relied upon by the circuit court to determine the State’s appeal was untimely:

(A) The appellant, **within ten days after sentence**, shall file notice of appeal with the clerk of circuit court and **shall serve notice** of appeal upon the magistrate who tried the case and **upon the designated agent for the prosecuting agency or attorney who**

prosecuted the charge, stating the grounds upon which the appeal is founded.

(B) A person convicted in magistrates court who pays a fine assessed by the court does not waive his right of appeal and, upon proper notice, may appeal his conviction within the time allotted in this section.

S.C. Code Ann. § 18-3-30 (Supp. 2019). The language explicitly chosen by the Legislature in writing the statute makes it clear the provision applies only after a person is sentenced—something that will usually not occur when the State is seeking an appeal. The fact it applies to a defendant convicted and sentenced in magistrate’s court is further highlighted by the fact that it explicitly requires service upon the prosecuting agency or prosecuting attorney—a prerequisite which would be absurd to place upon the State as it, or one of its subsidiaries, is the prosecuting agency.

As this Court has made abundantly clear, the appellate courts “do not sit as a superlegislature to second guess the wisdom or folly of decisions of the General Assembly.” Keyserling v. Beasley, 322 S.C. 83, 86, 470 S.E.2d 100, 101 (1996). “If a statute is clear and explicit in its language, then there is no need to resort to statutory interpretation or legislative intent to determine its meaning.” Timmons v. S.C. Tricentennial Comm'n, 254 S.C. 378, 401, 175 S.E.2d 805, 817 (1970).

Under the plain meaning rule, it is **not the court’s place** to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. Where the statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.

Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (emphasis added).

“If the intent of the legislature be clearly apparent from its language, the court may not embark upon a search for it de hors the statute.” Abell v. Bell, 229 S.C. 1, 4, 91 S.E.2d 548, 550

(1956); see also, Brown v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 515, 560 S.E.2d 410, 414 (2002) (“An appellate court cannot construe a statute without regard to its plain meaning and may not resort to a forced interpretation in an attempt to expand or limit the scope of a statute.”). “What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will.” Norman J. Singer, *Sutherland Statutory Construction* § 46.03 at 94 (5th ed.1992). “While it is true that the purpose of an enactment will prevail over the literal import of the statute, **this does not mean that this Court can completely rewrite a plain statute.**” Hodges, 341 S.C. at 87, 533 S.E.2d at 582 (emphasis added). As three Justices noted in a concurring opinion:

If it were true courts have the authority to interpret statutes according to a sense of justice and right, then courts would have the power to rewrite statutes to suit their own personal preferences, regardless of legislative intent. **Courts do not have that power.** . . . There is no principle of statutory interpretation that allows a court to simply do what it thinks is just and right.

Buchanan v. S.C. Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass'n, 424 S.C. 542, 553, 819 S.E.2d 124, 130 (2018) (Few, J. concurring) (emphasis added).

The language of the section 18-3-30 is very clear and unambiguous. The Court of Appeals' opinion details exactly what the statute requires and then explains how those prerequisites for an appeal cannot apply to the State. While the Court of Appeals ultimately concludes “the appellant implicitly contemplated is the defendant,” the opinion recognizes section 18-3-30 is not written in a way to make it applicable to the State. As a result, the circuit court and Court of Appeals should have found section 18-3-30 does not apply to the State and the State's time to serve and file its notice of appeal is not controlled by section 18-3-30.

The Court of Appeals then seems to find application of a different time frame for the State would be an absurd result allowing it to rewrite the statute to apply to the State. The Court

of Appeals misapprehended the cases that allow contrary interpretation. The ability to alter the plain language only occurs when it is **impossible** to fulfill the intention behind the statute itself. This Court articulated the rule many years ago and provided excellent examples that sit in clearly different posture than how the Court of Appeals re-interpreted section 18-3-30. In Stackhouse v. Rowland, 86 S.C. 419, 68 S.E. 561 (1910), the Court explained:

However plain the ordinary meaning of the words used in a statute may be, the courts will reject that meaning, when to accept it would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not possibly have been intended by the Legislature, or would defeat the plain legislative intention; and if possible will construe the statute so as to escape the absurdity and carry the intention into effect. The cardinal rule, that the courts should in all cases give effect to the obvious intent of the Legislature, and that every technical rule of construction should yield to the clear meaning of the statute, is stated in Endlich on Stat. Inter. § 295. Numerous cases in which clerical errors have been corrected by the courts pursuant to this principle are given in section 319 of the same work.

This rule has been followed in many cases in this and other jurisdictions. In Waring v. Cheraw, etc., Ry. Co., 16 S. C. 416, the word “hereinafter” was read “hereinbefore,” when the use of the former would have destroyed the manifest purpose of the statute. In Kitchen v. Southern Ry. Co., 68 S. C. 554, 48 S. E. 4, the word “of” was construed to mean “or,” in order to give full effect to the meaning of Lord Campbell's act. In Baldwin v. Travis County, 40 Tex. Civ. App. 149, 88 S. W. 480, the word “taxed” was substituted for “attached,” the court holding that the use of the latter word “appears to be improper and inapt, in that it does not appear to definitely express or convey the meaning evidently intended by the Legislature.” In California Loan Co. v. Weis, 118 Cal. 489, 50 Pac. 697, it was held that the word “July” which was evidently intended, should be read instead of “June,” which had been used in the act under consideration. In Re Frey, 128 Pa. 593, 18 Atl. 479, the word “city” was inserted instead of “county,” when the court was of opinion that “the section is senseless and absurd as it is written, while the purpose of the Legislature is perfectly obvious and certain.”

Id. at 562. Significantly, this Court provided a very clear warning regarding the use of the rule:

“While this rule is generally recognized, the courts in applying it should **exercise**

circumspection to avoid any effort to amend statutes. The principle depends upon the absurdity being manifest and the legislative intent obvious.” Id. (emphasis added). In the instant case, this Court did not alter the language of the statute to address a manifest absurdity. Instead, it drafted a new statute to apply to a party who was never intended to be covered by the original statute as written by the Legislature. This is the function of the Legislature and not the appellate courts.

Additionally, if the Court intends to look beyond the very clear and unambiguous language of the statute, then a look at the original version shows the legislature never intended the statute to apply to the State as appellant. The original version as passed in 1880 reads in relevant part:

The appellant shall, within five days after sentence, serve a notice of appeal upon the Trial Justice who tries the case, stating the grounds upon which the appeal is founded.

....

That the said appeal shall be heard by the Court of General Sessions upon the grounds of exception made, and upon the papers hereinbefore required, and without the examination of witnesses in said Court. And the said Court may either confirm the sentence appealed from, reverse or modify the same, or grant a new trial as to the said Court may seem meet and conformable to law.

Act No. 403, 1880 S.C. Acts 493. The original statute, especially the latter portion, makes it clear it applied only to a defendant and not the State. Since that time, the statute has been amended 3 times: 1) 1968, which retained the provision requiring the appellant to file within five days of sentence as subsection A, did not include any provision to provide for a time for a State’s appeal, and amended the statute to include only a subsection B which was similar to the current subsection B; 2) 1973, which only amended the time to allow for ten days instead of five, but again made no changes to set a time limit for a State’s appeal; and 3) 2010, which again did not

add any language setting a time limit for a State's appeal, but instead added language which further identified the intent of the statute as applying only to an appealing defendant by requiring the notice of appeal be served "upon the designated agent for the prosecuting agency or attorney who prosecuted the charge".

Undoubtedly, by 2010 the Legislature knew the State had a right to appeal from magistrate's court to the circuit court, notwithstanding the language of Section 18-3-10 which only provides a statutory right to appeal to a "person convicted before a magistrate of any offense whatever and sentenced." See State v. Belviso, 360 S.C. 112, 116, 600 S.E.2d 68, 70 (Ct. App. 2004) ("This authority provides ample support for the circuit court's ability to hear the State's appeal from the magistrate court's pre-trial rulings dismissing the open container charge and suppressing critical evidence in connection with the charge of driving with an unlawful alcohol concentration.") (citing State v. Jansen, 305 S.C. 320, 408 S.E.2d 235 (1991); State v. Whetstone, 333 S.C. 376, 510 S.E.2d 225 (Ct. App. 1998); State v. Rowlands, 343 S.C. 454, 456, 539 S.E.2d 717, 718 (Ct. App. 2000)); State v. McKnight, 287 S.C. 167, 168, 337 S.E.2d 208, 209 (1985) ("A pre-trial order granting the suppression of evidence which significantly impairs the prosecution of a criminal case is directly appealable under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2)(a) (1976)."). The Legislature not only declined to set a time requirement for a State's appeal in 2010, but only amended to the statute to make it even more obviously applicable only to a criminal defendant by requiring service upon the designated agent of the prosecuting agency or the attorney who prosecuted the charge.²

² The addition of this language demonstrates the Legislatures tacit understanding that many of the prosecutions in magistrate court occur without an attorney representing the State—in some counties nearly all prosecutions for DUI occur without an attorney representing the State as will be discussed. Otherwise, there would be little need for the language allowing service on the "designated agent" as opposed to solely the "prosecuting attorney."

Additionally, at the time of the 2010 amendment to section 18-3-30, the Legislature was well aware of other provisions which would apply to State's appeals from magistrate court to circuit court absent a specific statute and instead of section 18-3-30. See State v. Corey D., 339 S.C. 107, 112, 529 S.E.2d 20, 23 (2000) (Finding "there is a basic presumption that the legislature has knowledge of previous legislation as well as of judicial decisions construing that legislation when later statutes are enacted concerning related subjects."). The Legislature had two alternatives for consideration of a time requirement for a State's appeal from magistrate's court—Section 18-7-20 of the South Carolina Code or Rule 74 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. As a result, consideration of the 2010 amendment, even if the clear language of the statute alone was insufficient, established the Legislature intended section 18-3-30 to **only** apply to a criminal defendant and not the State.

Because section 18-3-30 cannot—by its clear language, the Legislature's intent, or its historical evolution—apply to the State, the Court of Appeals erred by not looking to other statutes or rules for a determination of the State's deadline to serve and file its notice of appeal. The two main provisions which would be applicable to the State's Notice of Appeal are section 18-7-20 of the South Carolina Code and Rule 74 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

Section 18-7-20, which applies to appeals to circuit court not otherwise covered in Title 18, indicates when and how appeals should be taken. The provision appears in a Chapter entitled Appeals to Circuit and County Courts in Other Cases. The term "Other Cases" would apply when Title 18 does not already contain a statutory provision providing for an appeal. As Chapter 3 specifically applies only to a criminal defendant's ability to appeal, a State's appeal would qualify as an "Other Case" triggering the provisions of Chapter 7. Accordingly, under section 18-7-20:

The appellant, within thirty days after written notice of judgment has been given him or his attorney by the magistrate, recorder, or judge of the municipal court, except when the judgment is announced at the trial in the presence of the appellant or his attorney then no written notice is necessary, shall serve a notice of appeal, stating the grounds upon which the appeal is founded.

S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-20 (Supp. 2019). As a result, applying section 18-7-20 would allow for 30 days for the State to serve its Notice of Appeal. The Legislature, in 2010 when it last amended section 18-3-30, would have been well aware of section 18-7-20 because it has read the same since 1989. See Act No. 20, 1989 S.C. Acts; see also, Shirley’s Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union, 403 S.C. 560, 570, 743 S.E.2d 778, 783 (2013) (“[T]his Court must presume the legislature knew of and contemplated the [prior existing statutes] in enacting [an act]”).

Additionally, Rule 74, SCRCP, was put in place effective May 1, 1986, and provided a means and time requirement for a State’s appeal absent any other applicable provision. The provision is applicable, even to appeals from criminal cases in magistrate court, because the appeals are taken to the Court of Common Pleas. See State v. Oxner, 391 S.C. 132, 134, 705 S.E.2d 51, 52 (2011) (finding the Rules of Civil Procedure applicable under Rule 74, SCRCP). This Court clearly overlooked Rule 74 and, in particular, the Editor’s Notes to Rules 74 and 75, SCRCP. Rule 74 of the Rules of Civil Procedure states:

Except for the time for filing the notice of appeal, the procedure on appeal to the circuit court from the judgment of an inferior court or decision of an administrative agency or tribunal shall be in accordance with the statutes providing such appeals. Notice of appeal to the circuit court must be served on all parties within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of the judgment, order or decision appealed from. In all such appeals the notice of intention to appeal shall be filed with the clerk of the court to which the appeal is taken and with the inferior court or administrative agency or tribunal within the time provided by the statute, or by this rule when no time is fixed by statute, for service of the notice of intention to appeal.

Rule 74, SCRPC. Significantly, the Editor's Notes to Rules 74 and 75, SCRPC, provide:

These Rules 74 and 75 are added to make uniform the procedure on appeals to the Circuit Court where there is no provision by statute. They do not replace any provisions as to such appeals in Title 18 of the Code, or other statutes providing for appeals from administrative decisions; but are added to supply omissions in these statutes where no provision is made for the time to file notice of intention to appeal, the form of the record on appeal, or how it shall be transmitted.

Clearly, Rule 74 and the allowance of thirty days is intended to apply to the prosecuting agency—the State—because, unless this Court finds section 18-7-20 applies, there is no statute in Title 18 expressly providing for the time in which the State must serve its notice of appeal. Rule 74 is specifically intended to fill that void.

The Legislature would have been aware of both section 18-7-20 and Rule 74, SCRPC, when it chose in 2010 to again not provide for any explicit time requirement for the service of a State's appeal under section 18-3-30. Berkebile v. Outen, 311 S.C. 50, 53, 426 S.E.2d 760, 762 (1993) (“A basic presumption exists that the legislature has knowledge of previous legislation when later statutes are passed on a related subject.”). Accordingly, either could be applied and would result in the State having thirty days to serve and file its appeal, meaning the notice of appeal filed in this case was timely.

Also, the Legislature clearly knows how to apply a time requirement to both a criminal defendant and the State in the same type of case. S.C. Coastal Conservation League v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control, 390 S.C. 418, 426, 702 S.E.2d 246, 251 (2010) (Acknowledging: “Had the legislature intended for the time period to begin running from the date a party receives notice of the decision, the statute would have been drafted accordingly.” Further, the Court looked to other statutes and explained: “The use of the phrase ‘receipt of the decision’ in [a separate statute] indicates that had the legislature intended for the fifteen day time period to

begin after receipt of notice, the legislature knew how to draft the statute to accomplish this result.”). The Court need not look beyond Rule 203 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules to determine that the Legislature knew how to draft a time requirement applicable to both a criminal defendant and the State. The Rule includes language similar to section 18-3-30 which clearly relates solely to the criminal defendant: “After a plea or trial resulting in conviction or a proceeding resulting in revocation of probation, a notice of appeal shall be served on all respondents **within ten (10) days after the sentence is imposed.**” Rule 203(b)(2), SCACR (emphasis added). However, the Rule also provides: “In those cases in which the **State is allowed to appeal** a pre-trial order or ruling, the notice of appeal must be served within ten (10) days of receiving actual notice of the ruling or order; provided, however, that the notice of appeal must be served before the jury is sworn or, if tried without a jury, before the State begins the presentation of its case in chief.” Id. (emphasis added).

In Rule 203, it was necessary to explicitly indicate the State’s time for service of the appeal because otherwise, the Rule, by its very language, would not apply to the State. Additionally, section 18-7-20, which is written very broadly and could apply to any party seeking to appeal, is an example the Legislature could have followed had they intended section 18-3-30 to be broadly construed to cover all possible appealing parties in the criminal case from magistrate’s court. Clearly, had the Legislature intended section 18-3-30 to apply to the State, they certainly knew how and could have easily amended the language when they last amended the statute in 2010 to be more similar to Rule 203.

The circuit court found the State should also be subject to the ten-day service requirement because it would otherwise be an equal protection violation. The Court of Appeals, while not relying on equal protection for its ultimate ruling, did rely on its misconception that the State and

a criminal defendant are “similarly situated parties.”³ There are very logical and practical reasons why the Legislature would allow additional time for a State’s appeal compared to that of a convicted defendant.

Initially, the calculus regarding a decision to appeal is very different between a convicted defendant and the State. The defendant only has to determine whether it is in his best interest to appeal his conviction and sentence. He does so with full knowledge of the actual facts regarding his guilt or innocence of the charges, the ramification of not appealing, and the possible remedies if he were to succeed on appeal. He does not have to consider any other case or how a ruling in his case may impact anyone else’s future trial. As mentioned previously, the Legislature originally believed a defendant needed only five days to make his decision because it was recognized that it should not be a hard decision requiring extended contemplation.

On the other hand, the State, as the Sovereign, has significant considerations to make prior to appealing a ruling. Initially, the State must review the underlying ruling and determine if it meets the standard set forth in McKnight that would even allow the State to pursue the appeal. Considerations regarding the benefit or efficacy of taking the underlying appeal also are much more complicated. While appealing may be best for the individual case, an appeal may or may not be best for all future prosecutions. The State is required to consider the broad ramifications of an appeal prior to bringing the appeal. If the State is successful, that may be beneficial in this particular case, but is it the best outcome for all future prosecutions or will the rule set forth by the Court alter those prosecutions in unintended ways. Additionally, the downside to an appeal

³ To the extent necessary, the State reiterates that there is no Equal Protection violation because no suspect class is involved and there is at least some rational basis for the distinction. Additionally, any violation of the Equal Protection Clause would result in the ten-day limit being struck and everyone subjected to the thirty-day time limit. For full discussion, the State craves reference to its Final Brief of Appellant.

may be too great to warrant the appeal in the individual case. The State must be concerned about whether a case has particularly bad facts and the old adage that bad facts make for bad law. See Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 659 (1992) (Thomas, J. dissenting) (acknowledging the old adage and commenting: “Just as ‘bad facts make bad law,’ so too odd facts make odd law.”). The State necessarily must consider ramifications far beyond the case before it and do what is in the best interest for the people of South Carolina, including the defendant, and not just consider the one individual. As a result, it is logical and rational that the Legislature would allow additional time for the State to make its determinations.

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