RECEIVED

Oct 21 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Dorchester County
Hon. Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge
Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2019-001068

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

TYLER J. EVANS,

RESPONDENT

OPINION NO. 2022-UP-319 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed August 3, 2022)

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS**

TARA L. FROST
JACK C. FROST

P.O. Box 1986
Summerville, SC 29484
(843) 419-6653 (phone)
(843) 419-6674 (fax)
tara@frostlawgroupsc.com
jack@frostlawgroupsc.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly analyzed the arguments presented and correctly applied precedent when it held that both the Petitioner and Respondent were bound by Title 18, Chapter 3, Section 30 as to the timing of appeals.

This Court should deny certiorari because the state has failed to provide any special or important reason to invoke this Court's review. See Rule 242(b), SCACR. There is no dissent from the opinion issued by the Court of Appeals, and that opinion is not in conflict with prior decisions of this Court or the United States Supreme Court. See Rule 242(b)(2), (3), (5), SCACR. The Court of Appeals was correct in finding the State had to serve and file its Notice of Appeal to the circuit court within ten days pursuant to sections 18-3-20 and 18-3-30 of the South Carolina Code. By its express terms, section 18-3-20 requires that "all" appeals from "criminal causes" in Magistrate court "shall" be taken and prosecuted according to that "chapter". Likewise, the language of 18-3-30 refers to an "appellant" having 10 days to file and serve the notice of appeal. The court was correct in not applying 18-7-20 and Rule 74, SCRCR, as they are either more general statutes than 18-3-20 and 18-3-30, or they do not apply in the manner that the state suggests.

1. The Application of 18-3-20 and 18-3-30

"The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain the and give effect to the intent of the legislature. *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007). In interpreting statutes, the Court looks to the plain meaning of the statute and the intent of the legislature. *State v. Gaines*, 380 S.C. 23, 32, 667 S.E. 2d 728, 733 (2008). A statute's language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute. *Id.* Statutes which are part of the same legislative scheme should be construed together. *Stardancer Casino, Inc. v. Stewart*, 347 S.C. 377, 556 S.E.2d 357 (2001). In construing statutory language, the statute must be read as a whole, and sections

which are part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect, if it can be done by any reasonable construction. *State v. Alls*, 330 S.C. 528, 500 S.E.2d 781 (1998). Furthermore, the court should not consider the particular clause being construed in isolation, but should read it in conjunction with the purpose of the whole statute and the policy of the law. *South Carolina Coastal Council v. South Carolina State Ethics Comm'n*, 306 S.C. 41, 44, 410 S.E.2d 245, 247 (1991).

Title 18 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina is entitled “Appeals” and it contains only four (4) chapters. Chapter 1 is entitled “General Provisions”, Chapter 3 is entitled “Appeals from Magistrates in Criminal Cases”, Chapter 7 is entitled “Appeals to Circuit and County Courts in Other Cases”, and Chapter 9 is entitled “Appeals to Supreme Court and Court of Appeals”. From the titles of the Chapters alone, it becomes clear that the legislature had a specific and clear intent for Title 18, Chapter 3: to govern magistrate’s criminal appeals. The language of various statutes within the Title makes it even clearer. Section 18-1-30 indicates that any “party aggrieved” may appeal “in the cases prescribed in this title”. Section 18-3-20 reads:

All appeals from magistrates’ courts in criminal causes **shall** be taken and prosecuted as prescribed in **this chapter**.”(Emphasis added.)

Section 18-3-30(A) reads, in pertinent part:

The **appellant, within ten days** after sentence, shall file notice of appeal with the clerk of court and shall serve notice of appeal on the magistrate who tried the case and upon the designated agent for the prosecuting agency or attorney who prosecuted the charge[...].” S.C. Code Ann. § 18-3-20 (Supp. 2019).

(Emphasis added.) Based upon the language of 18-3-20 and 18-3-30, when read in conjunction with one another and Section 18-1-30, along with the structure of the Chapters within

the title, it is clear that the intent of the legislature with regards to Chapter 3 was to have it govern the structure of all criminal appeals from magistrate's court, including those originating with the state. This is clarified further in *State v. Belviso*, 360 S.C. 112, 600 S.E.2d 68 (2004). The *Belviso* court recognized that affirming the State's right to appeal adverse outcomes from magistrate court was "consistent with the intent of the Legislature, especially when our statutory law is considered in its entirety [. . .] [i]n construing the statutory scheme as a whole, we 'escape the absurdity' and give efficacy to the manifest intention of the General assembly. [. . .] In doing so, our judicial decisions addressing the 'right of appeal' are in accord with legislative intent." *Id.* at 116-117. Thus, *Belviso* recognizes that the intent of the legislature is to govern the way that all appeals from criminal cases in magistrate court are prosecuted via Title 18. But if the "statutory law" as understood by *Belviso* indicates that the legislature's intent was to govern *all* criminal appeals in magistrate court, then how can that not be true – given that the statutes have not been amended since the time of *Belviso*'s publication – in the instant appeal?

The State seeks, rather, for the Court to issue an order indicating that the intention of the Legislature, in enacting Title 18, Chapter 3, was to not apply it to the only party who is a necessary party in a criminal prosecution, and thus allow the State to "island hop" from specific and unavoidable statutes to either general or clearly non-applicable ones.

Further, language specific to 18-3-30 should not be used to disqualify it from controlling the timing of the State's appeal, as this language is specific guidance set up to aid a rather peculiar type of litigant common to magistrate court: the pro se litigant. Summary courts in South Carolina handle the vast majority of all criminal cases created within its borders, and upon information and belief, the majority of those individuals who appear in magistrates court on criminal matters (including traffic tickets) are pro se. Thus, statistically speaking, it is likely that a defendant who

would be interested in appealing his case would be pro se. While it is not difficult for an experienced prosecutor to quickly ascertain the method to perfect his appeal, a pro se defendant, attempting to perfect service on one of the many various departments, organs, and permutations of the State may have trouble, even in a less populous county. Thus, the language about serving prosecuting agencies and prosecutors is meant to ensure that a pro se defendant is clearly and adequately guided so as to know what and whom needs to be given notice that they are appealing.

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny the petition for writ of certiorari. Should this Court grant the petition, Respondent respectfully requests the opportunity to brief the matter.